ALPHONSO  HARRIS  v. SALVATION ARMY

[image: image1.png]


ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	ALPHONSO  HARRIS, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Petitioner, 

                                                   v. 

SALVATION ARMY,

OLDER ALASKANS PROGRAM,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   And 

FIDELITY & GUARANTY INS. CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200124953
AWCB Decision No.  06-0187

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on July 13, 2006


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee’s claims for additional benefits on June 15, 2006 at Anchorage, Alaska.  The employee represented himself;  attorney Tasha Porcello represented the employer.  The record closed at the conclusion of the hearing.


ISSUES
1. Whether the employee’s claims for continued compensation is still a compensable, work-related condition under AS 23.30, et seq.   

2. Whether to find the employer frivolously or unfairly controverted the employee’s claims under AS 23.30.155.  


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
According to his December 13, 2001 Report of Occupational Injury or Illness (ROI), the employee began working for the employer as a Driver in March of 2000.  In the ROI, the employee detailed the following mechanism of Injury:  

On 12/12/01 while I was delivering meals I fell twice.  First at 3500 Mt. View and 1345 S. Hoyt St.  The stairs don’t get shoveled.  The snow continues to build up.  I attempted to break my fall both times with my right arm, landing on my shoulder.  What hurt is my right shoulder, elbow and lower back.  

The employee’s back history is lengthy both prior to and subsequent to his December, 2001 incident.  At the request of the Board, ultimately, a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) was ordered to be performed by Bruce McCormack, M.D., a neurosurgeon, on July 27, 2005.  In his SIME report, Dr. McCormack states that he reviewed approximately three inches of medical records sent by the Board, taking approximately three hours to review them.  He spent an hour physically examining the employee, and four hours preparing the SIME report.  We found his report to be very thorough, accurate, and complete with the Board’s record.  Dr. McCormack summarized the following history in his SIME report:    

Alphonso Harris is a 47-year old, right-handed Social Worker, who moved to Alaska from Georgia in the 1970’s.   

In August 1995, Mr. Harris had low back and right leg sciatica.  He was evaluated with a MRI on 10/4/95 which showed a right L5-S1 herniated disc, and degenerative changes at other levels.  He was treated with narcotics and epidural steroid injections which did not help.  He saw Dr. Kralick, a Neurosurgeon on 12/12/95.  He recommended surgery.  

On 1/12/96, Mr. Harris had a right L5-S1 discectomy surgery.  He improved. He was seen by Dr. Kralick a month later and he was doing well and had returned to work at a computer store in Soldotna.  Physical therapy was prescribed in May 1996 for back soreness.  

Residual symptoms lingered and records indicate Mr. Harris was seen by Dr. Kralick in June and September of that year.  In December, a repeat MRI was performed.  It showed postoperative changes on the right at L5-S1 and degenerative changes from L3-S1.  Additional surgery was not recommended by Dr. Kralick when he reviewed the study in January 1997.  

Mr. Harris was incarcerated from June 1997 until February 2000.  Prison records indicate ongoing low back pain.  He was evaluated multiple times in the prison medical clinic for back pain and sciatica and treated with a variety of medications including Darvocet, Narposyn and Amitriptyline.  Lumbar spine X-rays on 8/15/97 demonstrated spondylosis.  

In Februrary 1998, Mr. Harris was evaluated by Dr. Charles Perkins, a neurologist.  He reviewed his prior history.  Pain in the right calf was noted.  MRI and EMG were recommended for further evaluation. 

Dr. Kralick saw him in May 1998.  He re-reviewed the prior MRI in December 1996.  No specific additional recommendations were made.   

A new lumbar spine MRI on 5/15/98 showed postoperative changes at L5-S1 and diffuse degenerative changes.  

He was seen by Dr. Kralick again in October 1998.  He reviewed the MRI in May and compared it to the prior study.  He did not see any changes.  No surgery was recommended.  

Mr. Harris was given pain medications in Jail medical clinic for low back pain.   He was mostly evaluated by a nurses.  

In April 1999, he was re-evaluated in the neurology clinic in Tucson, Arizona.  MRI and EMG’s were ordered.  He was prescribed Elavil and Neurontin.  

MRI on 8/7/99 showed a central disc at L4-5, disc disease at L3-S1 and postoperative  changes on the right at L5-S1.  

An  epidural steroid injection was tried in January 2000.  There was ongoing low back pain until release from Prison in February 2000. 

Mr. Harris states that he had  “some” back  problems but was able to play basketball.     He would miss work occasionally.

Mr. Harris  started working as a social worker for the Salvation Army.    He would deliver meals for disabled clients.  He would make approximately 60 stops a day getting in and out of a truck.   

On  12/12/01, Mr. Harris was climbing stairs at a clients house in a blizzard, when he fell and injured his back.  He fell twice in one day.  

Mr. Harris saw Dr. Coalwell the next day.  He obtained a history that his low back was pain free since his laminectomy until the slip and fall on 12/13/01.  X-rays of the lumbar spine were notable a spurs at L4-5.   He was off work for several days.  

Dr. Coalwell followed him for the next several weeks.  He was prescribed percocet, vioxx and medrol dose pack and given a shot.  MRI was performed in January 2002.  It showed a disc protrusion at L4-5 and disc degeneration from L3-S1.  Work restrictions were ordered and he was referred back to Dr. Kralick, his prior treating neurosurgeon. 

Dr. Kralick  saw him in March 2002.  By this time Mr. Harris was on oxycontin.  Conservative care and epidural steroids were recommended.  Dr. Kralick did not think this was a new disc herniation.  

After this injury, he could no longer do his usual customary job delivering food.  He was given a new job as an assessment coordinator, which was mostly in the office, but he would occasionally see clients, approximately three  a day.  

In April 2002, Mr. Harris was evaluated at the Pain Center by Dr. Polston.  Epidural steroid injection was performed on 4/1102 and 5/16/02.

In June, facet blocks were performed on the left with good response and rhizotomies were performed shortly there after.  

Dr. Soot performed an IME in June 2002.  He indicated a back injury but it was too early to tell if there was permanent or temporary injury. 

Dr. Polston saw him in clinic in July.  Discography was recommended.  The study performed in July 25th showed a possible L4-5 tear.  No pain was provoked.  There was some improvement attributed to the rhizotomy.

Mr. Harris was seen at regular intervals by Dr. Polston.  He was still working and was weaned down to 4-5 percocet a day and Elavil.  Lumbar MRI  in October was unchanged.  Pain psychology evaluation was ordered.  

In December 2002, Dr. Dietrich, a neurosurgeon performed a IME and opined the injury on 12/12/01 aggravated a pre-existing condition and produced need for treatment.  Diagnosis was postlaminectomy syndrome and S1 radiculopathy.  

Dr. Kralick re-evaluated Mr. Harris in December and recommended conservative care.  He ordered a brace.  Another MRI was repeated in December 2002 and showed postoperative changes at L5-S1 and left L4-5 disc protrusion.   

Dr. Kralick saw him in follow-up in January 2003.  No surgery was recommended.   

Dr. Polston discussed options of a spinal cord stimulator and RACZ catheter in the Spring 2003.   

In April 2003, Dr. Anderson performed epidurograms and  percutaneous lysis of adhesion with three treatments on May 1st and 2nd. 

Right lumbar facet blocks were performed in July 2003 with improvement.  A rhizotomy was then performed.  Left facet blocks were performed in August followed by a second rhizotomy on the left in September 2003.  

Mr. Harris was maintained on percocet ~ 4-5 a day and Elavil.   A variety of other medications including Avinza and lidoderm patches were tried without success.  

By 2004, Dr. Polston recommended a spinal cord stimulator trial.  

In February 2004, Mr. Harris was evaluated by a psychologist Dr. Trombley and diagnosed with a pain disorder with psychological features.   

Mr. Harris was re-evaluated by Dr. Thomas Dietrich, Neurosurgeon in February 2004.   Diagnosis was degenerative disc disease, right L5-S1 laminectomy, probable S1 radiculopathy.  Pain was disproportionate to appearance.  He was medically stable.  He opines that he is DRE lumbar Category 3: 10% whole person impairment.  Ranges of motion are not valid because of inconsistency in restriction.  He did not believe a spinal cord stimulator was appropriate.

In March 2004  MRI of the thoracic and lumbar spine was performed.  The thoracic study was normal and the lumbar spine was without changes.   

In March 2004,  Dr. Dietrich opined that Mr. Harris had a  13%   impairment and  only 3% of this impairment was due to the 12/12/01 injury.   

An epidural steroid injection was repeated in March.     

In April, Dr. Polston noted ongoing pain.  Mr. Harris was denied a second opinion.  He sought legal counsel and was appealing to the State Medical Board.   He indicated he was a good a candidate for a spinal cord stimulator.   

Left L4-5, L5-S1 facet blocks were performed in May 2004.    

EMG in August 2004 showed chronic findings.  Repeat MRI in September 2004 showed a sequestered disc fragment 1.8 cm in size from the L5-S1 disc.  

Dr. Poison saw the MRI and referred him to Dr. Kralick for surgery.  He was given methadone for pain.  

He saw Dr. Kralick in December of 2004.  Fusion surgery was recommended.  

His present symptoms are back and left leg.  Eighty to 90% of the pain is in the back.  It is worse with sitting.  It is described as burning, dull and occasionally  pinching.  It averages 7-8 out of ten.  There is numbness and weakness in both legs, left greater than right.  

Mr. Harris has insomnia.  He cannot lay on his back or stomach. He has to sleep on his side.  

He cannot play basketball.  He could play on an occasional basis before the 12/12/01 injury.  He cannot run.  

He has gained 15 pounds. 

He takes Methadone, three tablets a day, and Elavil, 50 mg at night. 

Dr. McCormack also reviewed the employee’s film and other imaging studies, which demonstrated degenerative disc disease from L3-S1.  In addition, Dr. McCormack provided a comprehensive chronology of the employee’s medical records provided by the Board in his SIME report.  He summarized the records as follows:  

8/30/91:  Inmate was seen in medical for complaint of knee pain occurring two weeks ago.  Authorization for Ortho consult.  Seen on 10/9/91 by Dr. McCord, who recommended an MRI, with the possibility of a knee surgery.

10/9/91:  Left knee x-ray.  Normal study.  Dr. Eaves.

8/23/95:  Numbness started in low back.  Now it runs down the right leg.  Constant pain x one week.  Diagnoses lumbar sprain.  He is treated with manipulative therapy, Flexeril, Hydrocodone.  Dr. David Hizar.

8/29/95:  Persistent leg pain.  Diagnosis is disc syndrome. X-ray of his back.  Dr. David Hizer.

8/30/95:  X-rays revealed degenerative discs at L5-S1, spur at L4.  The patient is having a lot of sciatica.  MRI is ordered by Dr. David Hizar, D.O.

9/14/95:  Diagnosed disc syndrome.  Treated with Toradol.

9/21/95:  Diagnosis is disc syndrome.  Bedrrest.  Oxycodone.

9/25/95:  Increased back and leg pain.  Disc syndrome.  Demerol was given.  

10/4/95:  MRI shows right-sided disc herniation at L5-S1, bulging disc at L4-5, and degeneration of the L3-4 disc without a bulge.

10/5/95:  Right leg sciatica.  Diagnosis:  disc syndrome.  Consider for epidural steroid injection.

10/11/95:  Evaluation for epidural steroid injection by Dr. Timothy Gleason, D.O.  Diagnoses back and right leg pain.  Trial of epidural steroid injection.

10/11/95:  Epidural steroid injection by Dr. Gleason, D.O.

10/13/95:  Rear-ended.  Complaining of increased pain in the thoracic spine.  Given Flexeril.

10/17/95:  Lumbar epidural steroid injection x 2 by Dr. Gleason.

11/22/95:  Epidural steroid injection by Dr. Gleason.

12/12/95:  Neurosurgical consultation by Dr. Kralick.  He notes he saw Mr. Harris on 12/12/95.  He has back and right leg pain.  It began in September of 1995.  He had three epidural steroid injections, which did not help.  There is numbness on his right foot.  He had been able to work.  He has a positive straight leg raising sign.  MRI shows a right L5-S1 disc herniation.  He discusses surgery and non-surgical treatment.  Surgery is scheduled 12/12/96.

1/12/96 –

1/14/96:  Admission to Sisters of Providence Hospital for right L5-S1 microdiscectomy.  Dr. Lois Kralick.

1/16/96:  Operative report by Dr. Kralick.  Right L5-S1 disc herniation and discectomy.

2/14/96 –

9/17/98:  Routine follow-up notes, with MRI, dated 12/21/96.  No new disc and surgery.

2/27/96:  Note by Dr. Kralick.  He is seen in follow-up.  He had right L5-S1 discectomy on 1/12/96.  He returned to work.  He has occasional pain.  He recommends back exercises at home.

5/14/96:  He is seen in follow-up after disc excision.  He works full-time at his computer job.  He has some soreness in the right leg.  Physical therapy is recommended.

5/20/96:  Physical therapy evaluation and treatment.

6/27/96:  Follow-up note by Dr. Kralick.  He is working full time at a computer store.  He is doing exercises and has overall improvement.  Prescription of Tylenol #3 is given.

7/20/96:  Discharged from physical therapy.

12/3/96:  Follow-up note with Dr. Kralick.  He works full time at the Connecting Point Computer Store in Soldotna.  He has back stiffness, intermittent right thigh and calf pain.  He recommends an MRI of the lumbar spine.

1/10/97:  Note by Dr. Kralick.  He reviews MRI.  No new disc or surgery.

12/21/96:  MRI of the lumbar spine reveals degenerative disc disease, L3-S1, with post laminectomy changes at L5-S1.  Follow-up notes on 6/19/97, 9/25/97.

6/16/97:  Evaluation by Nurse Hatt and a health screening for the Department of Corrections.

Health Care Progress Notes:

7/1/97:  Chronic back pain.  Flexeril, ibuprofen and Darvocet given.  

7/7/97:  Order for ibuprofen.  

7/8/97:  Continue ibuprofen.  

7/11/97:  He will keep flooding Medical office until he gets Flexeril and Darvocet.  7/17/97:  Eye irritation.  

7/18/97:  Eye irritation.  Evaluation.  

7/22/97:  Inmate claims Fiuroset makes him ill.  

7/24/97:  Prescription for Darvocet.  8/15/97:  Lumbar spine x-rays.  

8/30/97:  Complaining of dental discomfort.

8/18/97:  Lumbar spine films demonstrate spondylosis.

9/10/97:  Increase in pain.

9/26/97:  Prescription for Naprosyn and neurogesic Forte.

10/23/97:  Refill Naprosyn.

11/26/97:  Refill Naprosyn.

12/8/97:  Increase Elvil

1/14 & 2/17/98:  Prescription for Elavil, Naprosyn.

2/23/98:  MRI report sent to Dr. Perkins.

2/25/98:  EMG ordered.

Medication Dispensing Log at the Department of Corrections in 1998.

12/19/98:  Peninsula Neurology Clinic.  Evaluation by Dr. Charles Perkins.  He developed a herniated disc in 1996 with weakness in the leg.  He had resection of the extruded disc.  Before surgery, he could only walk a block or two.  He was seen in routine follow-up in the fall of 1996.  Operation was in January of 1996.  He had an MRI because of recurrent back pain.  He also has pain in the calf.  He doesn’t seem to have a recurrent disc herniation.  Diffuse weakness noted.  He requests all the records.  If symptoms persist, he needs an MRI and EMG.

3/13/98:  Prison health care records.  Low back pain and leg pain.

3/16/98:  Inmate requests EMG.

3/16/98-

4/3/98:
  Dr. Kralick and Dr. Perkins request various studies.  Medications renewed. Nursing notes. 

3/16/98: Note by Dr. Green, Health Care Operations Officer.  They are inquiring about his back condition.

3/26/98:  Department of Corrections Note indicating release date on 10/14/98.  Diffuse weakness in the right leg.  EMGs and MRIs ordered.

4/2/98:  Note by Dr. Kralick.  MRI on 12/21/96 showed postoperative changes.  He has complaints of pain.  X-rays showed degenerative changes.  No further diagnostic opinions or treatments are recommended at this time.

4/18/98, 4/21/98, 5/13/98 and 5/20/98:  Nursing records from the prison regarding evaluation and treatment of low back pain.  MRI of the lumbar spine, dated 5/15/98, shows degenerative disc disease, L3-S1.  Post laminectomy changes in the right at L5-S1.

5/20/98 –

9/28/98:  Nursing health care records from the prison for chronic low back pain and sundry other medical issues.

10/20/98:  Note by Dr. Lois Kralick.  MRI was performed on 5/15/98 and shows postoperative changes.  It is not changed compared to 12/21/96.  No surgery warranted.  

10/20/98 –

11/23/98:  Nursing health care records.  Various evaluations of back and leg pain.

11/18/98:  The patient requests Elavil, Feldene.

11/21/98: Intake Mental Health Screening Form and assessment of suicidal ideation.

2/1/98:  Request for nasal spray and medications for low back pain.

1/3/99 – 

1/7/99:  Various medications for low back pain.

11/25/99 –

2/8/99:  Evaluation of low back pain.  Various pain medications.

Note by Joella Beard, M.D., indicating that she is performing a partial permanent impairment rating.  Diagnosis:  Pre-morbid L5-S1 laminectomy with disc extensive, degenerative disc disease, L4-5 herniated disc with annular tear.  She uses range of motion testing.  It appears he had a prior disc lesion with some residual findings.  EMGs were not done that would confirm radiculopathy.  She opines a lumbar spine impairment of 7% whole person.  He has an unreliable examination with significant inconsistencies.

3/99- 4/99:  Evaluation for peptic ulcer disease and low back pain.

4/2/99:  Persistent peptic ulcer disease.

2/99:  Evaluation in the emergency room for abdominal pain.

4/3/99:  Nursing notes indicating  Mr. Harris is getting multiple antibiotics.  It appears he has abdominal pain in his left lower quadrant and guaiac positive stools.  He is returned back to his general prison population on 4/9/99.  Diagnosis of abdominal abscess is also entertained by Dr. Kazi.  Follow-up nursing treatment records from April of 1999 for abdominal problems.

4/30/99:  Neurology clinic at University Medical Center, in Tucson, Arizona.  Evaluation for low back pain x three years.  History of low back pain in 1996 with discectomy.  He has persistent pain.  Diagnosis is chronic low back pain with radiation to the right leg.  Recommend repeat MRI, Elavil.  Trial of Ultram.  Follow-up.  Dr. Anderson.

5/99:  Nursing records from the prison indicate EMG is ordered.  Elavil is prescribed.  Neurontin is prescribed.  Records indicate side effects of Elavil, including shaking of his hands and not feeling well.  This is discussed with the physician.

5/4/99:  Neurosurgical consultation requested. 

5/99:  Nursing notes indicate ongoing abdominal complaints with a variety of treatments.

6/99 –

8/99:  Nursing notes recommend ongoing complaints of low back pain and abdominal complaints treated with a variety of medications.

8/7/99:  MRI of the lumbar spine demonstrates central disc protrusion at L4-5 without spinal stenosis.  Annular disc bulge at L3-4, L5-S1.  Right-sided postoperative changes at L5-S1.

8/10/99:  Evaluation for chest pain. 

10/99 –

11/99:  Multiple nursing visits in the prison for back pain, with treatment with a variety of medications, including narcotics and muscle relaxants.

12/99:  Evaluation for skin folliculitis.  

1/27/00:  Epidural steroid injection with improvement in pain.

1/00 –

2/00:  Evaluation for low back pain.  Medications are prescribed.

12/13/01:  Note by Dr. Timothy Coalwell.  He notes the patient works in Meals-on-Wheels programs and was going upstairs to a patient’s house.  He fell and landed on his right arm and shoulder with pain going to his right neck and left lower back.  He has a history of prior laminectomy.  He has been pain-free since then.  He is scared about his back.  He has some tingling in the left leg.  X-ray of the cervical spine shows chronic changes at C6-7.  Right shoulder and elbow were negative to my reading.  Postoperative changes in the lumbar spine.  Status post fall on icy steps with contusion, strain of the right elbow, shoulder, neck and lumbar area.  Follow-up in one week.  May consider physical therapy.  Prescriptions for Vioxx and Lorcet are given and Xanoflex.  Recheck in one week.

12/13/01:  Disability note by Medical Park Family Care.

12/13/01:  X-rays of the right shoulder, elbow and cervical spine are negative.  X-ray of the lumbar spine reveals spurs, particularly at L4-5.

12/19/01:  Note by Dr. Coalwell.  He complains of low back pain.  He was seen a week ago.  He fell on icy steps and had a contusion of his elbow.  He had a prior history of a laminectomy.  Medrol dose pack and Percocet are ordered.

12/19/01:  Follow-up note in medical clinic.  Still complains of low back pain.

1/15/02:  Follow-up note by Dr. Coalwell.  He has back pain, some right elbow pain.  He had fallen about a month and a half ago.  He is getting physical therapy.  It helps, but pain persists.  He is taking Vioxx and Percocet.  Diagnosis is low back pain with radiation and a history of prior laminectomy. Right elbow pain.  Continue Vioxx, Percocet.  MRI of the lumbar spine and CT of the elbow were ordered.

1/15/02:  Medical note.  Out of relaxors and Percocet.  Medications renewed.

1/21/02:  MRI shows status post L5 laminectomy.  Disc protrusion at L4-5, lateralizing to the left.  Disc degeneration L3-S1.

1/21/02:  Unremarkable CT scan of the elbow

1/25/02:  Note by Leland Jones, M.D.  He is here for follow-up of his MRI.  It appears that there is a disc protrusion at L4-5.  History of a prior disc surgery at L5-S1.  Negative 

straight leg raising on the left.  He does have radicular symptoms.  Diagnosis is L4-5 disc rupture to the left.  Refer to Dr. Kralick.  Lateral epicondylitis.  Triggerpoint injection performed.

1/25/02:  Referral to Dr. Kralick.

2/4/02:  Physical therapy evaluation by Jinny Oliver, PT.

2/5/02:  Follow-up note by Dr. Coalwell.  He continues to have low back pain.  His job involves making 70 deliveries out of a Subaru in a five-hour period.  He has an appointment with Dr. Kralick.  Diagnoses low back pain due to disc.  Continue Vioxx.  Switch to Oxycontin, 10 mg t.i.d.  

2/5/02:  He requests change in pain medication.  Continue PT and switch to Oxycontin.

2/5/02:  Work restrictions provided by Primary Care physicians.

3/19/02:  Follow-up note by Dr. Kralick.  He notes he had a work-related incident on 2/12/01, while working at the Salvation Army delivering meals.  He fell in the snow, landing on his buttock, right shoulder and arm.  He was treated with cortisone and a shot in the arm and some physical therapy.  He continues complaint of low back pain.  He is working on light duty.  He notes a disc excision done in January of 1999.  He notes he is on Oxycontin.  MRI, dated 1/21/02, is reviewed.  He believes there is irritation of the S1 nerve root.  He does not think there is a new disc herniation.  He recommends conservative care and an epidural steroid injection.

3/22/02:  Note by Dr. Coalwell.  He comes in for med renewals.  He is doing more indoor computer work.  He saw Dr. Kralick, who recommended a cortisone shot.  He is taking Xanoflex and Percocet.  They will proceed with epidural steroid injections.

4/2/02: Advance Pain Center of Alaska. Consultation by Gregory Polston, M.D.  He notes pain is 7 to 9 out of 10.  MRI is reviewed.  Epidural steroid injection, Elavil, Psych testing, and physical therapy is recommended.

4/11/02:  Epidural steroid injection by Dr. Polston.

5/1/02:  Follow-up note in the Pain Center.  Diagnosis is lumbar radiculopathy.  Caudal epidural steroid injection is planned.  He would like to add Wydase.

5/16/02:  Caudal epidural steroid injection with Wydase by Dr. Polston.

6/4/02:  Follow-up in the Pain Center.  Diagnosis is lumbar radicular pain, lumbar facet arthropathy.  Median branch blocks at L3-S1 is recommended.  Neurontin is started.  Elavil.  Xanoflex are continued.  Dr. Polston.

6/13/02:  Lumbar facet blocks, L3-5 by Dr. Polston.

6/14/02:  Dorsal median blocks on the left at L3-S1 by Gregory Polston, M.D.

6/15/02:  Independent Medical Evaluation by Dr. Soot, Orthopedic Surgeon.  He notes a history of back and right leg pain after he fell.  There were two episodes, the first on the right side and his subsequent fall, when he fell forward in a more forward position.  He finished working that day and continued to do deliveries.  He sought medical attention.  He had an MRI scan.  Epidurals were done.  He did have some neck pain after this injury and elbow pain, which improved.  The main problem Mr. Harris has now is right leg pain.  Walking is three to four blocks at a time.  He opines that he had back strain and sciatica due to the 12/01 injury.  There is some tendonitis of the elbow.  He has objective findings to support his back pain.  He has a pre-existing problem.  He is not sure if the injury of 12/12/01 is permanent or temporary.  He does not think a spinal cord stimulator is appropriate.  Therapy and general conditioning is recommended.  Prognosis is guarded.  It is best for him not to return to delivering Meals-on-Wheels.  He does not think he is permanent and stationary.  He does not offer a prognosis.

6/26/02:  Follow-up note in Pain Clinic, Dr. Polston.  He underwent left facet blocks.  He reported 50% improvement in his back and leg pain.  He was pleased and wished to proceed with radiofrequency oblation.

6/8/02:  Radiofrequency oblation at L3, L4, L5 and S1.

7/23/02:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston.  He notes he had an IME on 6/15.    Diagnoses discogenic low back pain, left Baker’s cyst.  He recommends discography to determine if it’s discogenic.  Perhaps he is a candidate for annuloplasty.  Consider a trial of spinal cord stimulator.

7/25/02:  Discography, L3-S1.  L4-5 showed 5/10 non-concordant pain.  L3 disc appeared degenerated.  There is a possible L4-5 tear.  None of the discs provided concordant pain.  Dr. Polston.

7/25/02:  Lumbar CT scan.  Grade 1 disc degeneration at L3-4.  Grade 3 disc degeneration at L3-4.  Grade 3 disc degeneration at L5-S1.  Dr. Polston.

7/30/02:  Follow-up with Dr. Polston.  Diagnosed degenerative disc disease, lumbar facet arthropathy.  Continue Ultrim.  Steady improvement, perhaps related to the radiofrequency lesioning.  Physical therapy is ordered.

8/28/02:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston.  Caudal catheterization is recommended.  Diagnosed post laminectomy syndrome.

9/10/02:  Note by Dr. Polston indicating that Mr. Harris will have a permanent impairment.

9/30/02:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston after radiofrequency oblation.  60% improvement.  He continues to work 40 hours a week.  The pain is 4/10.  Diagnoses facet arthropathy.  Lumbar disc disease.  Continue Percocet three times a day.  He was given a one-month supply.

10/1/02:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston.  He continues to have burning pain in both legs.  He does not want a caudal catheterization or a spinal cord stimulator trial.  Diagnosed neuropathic pain.  He is a great candidate for caudal cath procedure or spinal cord stimulators.  He is stable.  He recommends referral back for FCC and a final PPI.

10/4/02:  Follow-up note by Dr. Coalwell.  He has persistent pain.  He was in a motor vehicle accident last winter.  He has degenerative disc disease.  Dr. Coalwell did not feel he was a candidate for surgery.  He is off all medications.  He does not want to proceed with additional invasive procedures with Dr. Polston.  Diagnoses persistent back pain.  MRI is ordered.

10/8/02:  MRI of the lumbar spine reveals disc degeneration L3-L5.  Postoperative changes in the right at L5-S1.

10/9/02:  Pain Psychology evaluation.

11/5/02:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston.  He continues to have burning pain in the legs.  He is taking Elavil and four Percocet a day.  Post laminectomy syndrome.  He refers him to Susan Anderson for caudal catheterization.  He is given Percocet and Elavil.

12/2/02:  Note by Dr. Coalwell.  Diagnoses low back pain.  He is taking a few extra Percocet.  He is constipated.  

12/5/02:  Note by Dr. Coalwell.  Notes he is constipated due to narcotics.  He recommends treatment with Zenicl, which is a fat blocker.  Mr. Harris will give it a try.

12/6/02:  Independent Medical Evaluation by Thomas Dietrich, M.D., Neurosurgeon. He notes that Mr. Harris had the slip and fall on 12/12/01, that there was snow covering ice on the pavement, and on two days he fell, slipping on the ice.  Both times he fell backwards and landed on his right arm or elbow.  He does not recall falling on his buttocks.  Persistent pain in the right shoulder and elbow extending up to the neck, as well as pain in the low back.  He is evaluated by his family physician, Dr. Coalwell, on 12/13.  X-rays of the neck showed spurs.  X-rays of the shoulder and right elbow were normal.  He was allowed to work on modified duty.  Vioxx, Lorcet and Xanoflex were prescribed.  He was given Percocet and a Medrol dose pack.  Symptoms persisted, and on 1/21/02, an MRI was ordered.  A CT scan of the elbow was also ordered.  He saw Dr. Kralick on 3/19/02.  Conservative care with injections was recommended.  He came under the care of Dr. Holston, an anesthesiologist, who provided various injections.   He notes the report of Dr. Zoot, who felt this was an aggravation of a prior problem.  When Mr. Harris was seen by Dr. Polston, on 6/26/02, he had a 50% reduction in back and leg pain after the injections.  Radiofrequency lesioning was performed.  Upper extremity radicular symptoms resolved.  Various procedures were reviewed.  He has persistent back  pain.  Diagnosis is degenerative disc disease, L3-S1.  Post laminectomy syndrome.  Probable S1 radiculopathy due to injury of 12/12/01.  He believes the injury sustained on 12/12/01 is aggravation of the L5-S1 level, suggested by Dr. Kralick, with irritation to the S1 nerve root.  In his opinion, the 12/12/01 injury, combined with the pre-existing injury, produced the need for treatment.  There is likely a permanent change in his condition.  He does not think a caudal catheter or a spinal cord stimulator is appropriate.  Activity modifications were recommended.  There may be residual impairment; it is difficult to say.  He is not able to carry out the position of delivery driver person.  He can continue to work full time with sitting limited to 30 minutes.  He is not medically stable.  Dr. Dietrich.

12/11/02:  Increased pain.  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston.  Diagnoses discogenic pain from L3-S1.  He is going to see Dr. Kralick.  The effects of the radiofrequency have resolved.  He cancelled a caudal cath procedure since now he has mostly low back pain.  He has scheduled three facet blocks after Dr. Kralick’s visit.

12/16/02:  Follow-up note with Dr. Kralick.  He recommends conservative care.  He orders a brace.  

12/18/02:  MRI of the lumbar spine.  Postoperative changes of L5-S1.  Disc protrusion eccentric to the left at L4-5.

1/21/03:  Follow-up note by Dr. Kralick.  Still complains of pain in the back and leg.  Treatment options are discussed.  No surgery is recommended.  Moderate degenerative changes.  No radicular symptoms.  Conservative care only.

1/28/03:  Note by Dr. Polston.  Diagnosed post laminectomy syndrome.  He will receive a RACZ catheter.  If this doesn’t work, he may be a candidate for a spinal cord stimulator.

2/13/03:  Follow-up note in Advanced Pain Center by Susan Anderson.  He is referred for a caudal catheter.  He is here today.  He will be contacted in the future for evaluation.

2/16/03:  Note by Dr. Polston.  Left radicular symptoms status post laminectomy.  He would like the patient to have a RACZ catheter performed and if this doesn’t work, a spinal cord stimulator.  

12/12/01:  Job description of a sales clerk.  It includes light lifting up to 20 pounds.  Occasional stooping and crouching and frequent reaching and handling.  Job disapproved by Dr. Polston.

12/12/01:  Job description of a janitor.  Disapproved by Dr. Polston.  Job description of a manager, retail store disapproved by Dr. Polston.

4/22/03:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston.  Post laminectomy syndrome.  Plan:  caudal cath.  Percocet is removed.

4/28/03:  Follow-up note by Dr. Anderson.  Right L5 radicular pain secondary to epidural fibrosis from the laminectomy. He scheduled him for a right L5 catheter series.

4/30/03:  Caudal catheter insertion.  Interpretation of epidurograms.  Stage 1 of 3 stage percutaneous lysis of adhesion or RACZ procedure by Susan Anderson, M.D.

5/1/03:  Stage 1 of 3 percutaneous lysis of adhesions by Dr. Anderson.

5/1/03:  Stage 2 of 3 lysis of adhesion of RACZ procedure.

5/2/03:  Stage 3 of 3 percutaneous lysis of adhesion.

5/20/03:  Follow-up note by Dr. Gregory Polston.  Discogenic low back pain, status post laminectomy.  Continue Percocet, Elavil and medications for constipation.  Continue with physical therapy.

6/18/03:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston.  Diagnoses a discogenic low back pain, right lumbar facet arthropathy.  Plans facet blocks at L4-5 and L5-S1.

7/7/03:  Right L4-5, L5-S1 facet blocks.

7/16/03:  Reports 80% improvement for one week after facet blocks.  Diagnoses lumbar facet arthropathy, failed back syndrome.  Dorsal radiofrequency lesioning is discussed.

7/21/03:  Dorsal medial nerve blocks, L3-S1 on the right by Dr. Polston.

7/29/03:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston.  He plans radiofrequency lesioning.

8/11/03:  Dorsal median nerve blocks,  L3-S1, by Dr. Polston.

8/20/03:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston.  He plans radiofrequency lesioning.  Risks and benefits reviewed.

9/8/03:  Radiofrequency oblation, L3-S1, on the left.

11/11/03:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston.  He tried Lidoderm patch.  Increased pain on the left side.  He takes three Percocet a day and is using Elavil at night.

12/2/03:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston.  Continue Percocet four times a day.  Lidoderm patch was not helpful.  Neuropathic pain in the lower extremities.  Discogenic low back pain.  Switch to Avenza.  He is interested in proceeding with a spinal cord stimulator trial.  Follow-up in two weeks about the Avenza.

12/23/03:  He did not like the Avenza and wished to go back to Percocet, which is re-tried.  Trial of spinal cord stimulation is discussed.

1/8/04:  Note by Ms. Porcello.  She decides to get another opinion before authorizing an implant.

1/20/04:  Note by Dr. Polston.  He is scheduled for an IME.  Spinal cord stimulator trial is discussed.  Continue Percocet and Zonegran.

1/23/04:  Pain psychology interview.

2/3/04:  Psych evaluation at the Pain Center.  Diagnosis is pain disorder with psychological features and general medical condition.  Adjustment Disorder with anxiety.  Chronic low back pain.  Robert Trombley, Ph.D.

2/7/04:  Re-evaluation by Dr. Thomas Dietrich, Neurosurgeon.  Diagnoses degenerative disc disease, right L5-S1 laminectomy, probable S1 radiculopathy.  Pain is disproportionate to appearance.  He notes worsening of his pain.  He is medically stable.  He opines that he is DRE lumbar Category 3: 10% whole person impairment.  Ranges of motion are not valid because of inconsistency in restriction.  He does not believe a spinal cord stimulator is appropriate.

2/24/04:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston.  Failed back syndrome.  Continue Percocet.  He awaits IME report.

3/1/04:  MRI of the thoracic spine and lumbar spine is performed.  Normal thoracic spine.  Status post right L5-S1 laminectomy.  Enhancing scar tissue.  Degenerative changes, L3-S1.

3/9/04:  Follow-up note by Dr. Dietrich.  He placed him in the upper limit of Category 3:  13% due to an impairment in activities of daily living.  He believes it is reasonable to assume 10% whole person.  Pre-existing impairment.  He believes 3% impairment is appropriate to the 12/12/01 injury.  Range of motion is not valid for rating purposes.

3/10/04:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston, who notes he had an IME.  He did not feel he was a candidate for a spinal cord stimulator.  He wants to continue Percocet and Elavil.  

He wants to perform an epidural steroid injection.  Second opinion regarding spinal cord stimulation.

3/15/04:  Right transforaminal epidural steroid injection by Dr. Polston.

3/17/04:  Note by Dr. Beard.  Authorization for a second opinion is denied.

4/6/04:  Note by Dr. Polston.  Notes that he is continuing to have difficult pain in his legs.  He was denied a second opinion.  He sought legal counsel and is appealing to the State Medical Board.  Diagnosis is post laminectomy syndrome with neuropathic pain.  Continue Percocet and Elavil.  He believes he is a candidate for a spinal cord stimulator.  He is a good candidate for stimulation.

4/7/04:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston.  Diagnosed post laminectomy syndrome, facet syndrome.  He is taking Percocet.  He wants to perform facet blocks on the left.  Risks and benefits were reviewed.  He starts him on Keppra.

5/3/04:  Letter by Mr. Porcello.

5/7/04:  Left L4-5, L5-S1 facet block by Dr. Polston.

5/19/04:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston.  The back is better after facet blocks.  Continue Percocet and trial of Fentanyl patch.

5/28/04:  Blood test positive for marijuana.

Alaska Workman’s Compensation Appeal Board document, dated 7/20/05, by Mr. Harris, indicating Dr. Dietrich’s documents were questionable.  He elects to follow with Dr. Polston’s request for a spinal cord stimulator.

8/19/04:  Note by Joella Beard, M.D.  Chronic changes of L5-S1 nerve root, suggestive or irritability, noted bilaterally.  Mostly chronic findings.

9/9/04:  MRI reveals disc at L4-5.  Radial tear of the annulus.  Mild degenerative disc disease, L3-4, L4-5 and L5-S1.  He notes a sequestered disc fragment measuring 1.8 cm, presumably from the L5-S1 disc.  Signed Robert Bridges.

10/6/04:  Lumbar discogenic pain with provocative discography at L4-5 and L5-S1 with concordant pain.  He is referred back to Neurosurgery for consideration of fusion.  Continue opioids.

10/19/04:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston.  Post laminectomy syndrome with disc protrusions and disc extrusion at L4-5 and L5-S1.  Plan EMG.  Methadone, 5 mg t.i.d.

10/20/04:  Note by Thomas Dietrich, M.D.  “I do not have documentation of a recent surgical request  Presumably, this is related to an extruded disc fragment at the L5-S1 level on the left.  This is a change, apparently, from April of this year and was not associated with the work injury.  It could not be associated to the injury of 12/12/01.:  It is his opinion symptoms which began in April or May of this year and extended to the left leg are attributable to disc fragment noted on the recent MRI at the L5-S1 level.  This is a new finding since March.  It would not be related to the work injury of December of ’01.

12/1/04:  Follow-up in the Pain Clinic by Deborah Kiley.  Post laminectomy syndrome with discs at L4-5 and L5-S1.  EMG, 8/19/04, shows chronic re-ennervation of right S1.  Chronic root irritability.  He is given Methadone and Senekot.  

12/15/04:  Follow-up note by Dr. Kralick.  He recommends laminectomies and foraminotomies at L4-S1 and fusion, L4-S1.  Risks and benefits were reviewed.

12/29/04:  Follow-up note by Dr. Polston.  Diagnoses discogenic low back pain.  Dr. Kralick recommended fusion.  He is to continue using Methadone, 5 mg t.i.d., Elavil, 15 mg q. hs.

1/22/05:  Follow-up note by Dr. Dietrich.  Since completed the IME on 10/20/04, the lumbar spine MRI of 3/1/04 and 9/9/04 have been available for review.  They were compared to the prior study on 12/18/02.  The study shows a moderate left disc protrusion at L4-5, eccentric to the left, and postoperative changes in the right at L5-S1.  There are mild degenerative changes at all levels.  MRI, dated 3/1/04, reveals disc degeneration at all levels.  There was a significant change on the 9/9/04 MRI.  He developed a large extruded fragment at L5-S1 on the left extending caudally over the body of L5.  It does not change his opinions of the report dated 10/20/04.

2/1/05:  Note by Deborah Kiley of Advanced Pain Center.  She diagnoses discogenic low back pain with disc protrusions, L4-5 and L5-S1.  He is anticipating surgery.  Continue medications.  Methadone renewed.

2/11/05:  Note by Dr. Thomas Dietrich.  He notes that Mr. Harris had reported he had back surgery five years ago by Dr. Kralick and was pain-free.  He notes it’s not supported by the medical record.  Going back to 1996, MRI of the lumbar spine revealed degenerative changes at multiple levels.  He was subsequently incarcerated from 6/16/97 to February of 2000.  He was complaining of back pain with radiating pain to the right leg and foot.  He had an MRI on 5/15/98, which did not show significant changes.  On 2/8/99, there were additional complaints of low back pain.  Chart note on 4/30/99 shows increased back pain for three years going into the right leg.  MRI was repeated on 8/7/99 because of complaints.  Neurosurgical consultation was recommended on 8/10/99.  There is a note of chronic pain, treated with an epidural steroid injection on 1/27/00.  On 2/18/00, he was reported to have pain in his entire spine, from T11-S1.  He opines that the injury of 12/12/01 is an exacerbation of his pre-existing problem rather than a new injury, as indicated in his report of 1/22/05.  He does not believe that the 12/12/01 work injury is a substantial factor in his current condition.

On February 17, 2005, the employer controverted all further benefits, including medical benefits and surgery, based on Dr. Dietrich’s latest report.  The employer also controverted, noting that the employee was untruthful, arguing:  “The decision to accept the claim and pay benefits through February 2005 was based upon medical opinions which were tainted with untruthful information.”  


In his July 30, 2005 report, Dr. McCormack concluded that the employee examination revealed a “benign neurologic examination with inconsistent range of motion measurements and depressed right ankle jerk.” He diagnosed the employee with “diffuse degenerative lumbar disc disease with axial back pain; Post laminectomy syndrome with scar at the right L5-S1 level; Left L5-S1 disc herniation in 2004; and Pain syndrome with psychological features.”  Regarding causation, Dr. McCormack concluded:  “The slip and fall in 2001 resulted in exacerbation of a pre-existing problem.  Any ongoing treatment, surgery and otherwise is unrelated to the slip and fall in 2001.”  

Regarding the employee’s current complaints, Dr. McCormack concluded:  

No present symptoms are related to the 2001 slip and fall.  Mr. Harris had a temporary flare-up after this injury.  It’s important to note that he had a long history of back pain dating from 1996-2000. Degenerative changes seen on MRI pre-existed the injury on 12/12/01.    

. . . 

I believe the slip and fall resulted in a temporary aggravation of a pre-existing problem.  I agree with Dr. Dietrich and do not think it was a substantial factor in his present condition.  The alternative reason, of course, is the natural progression of degenerative disc disease in a young man who started having problems at the age of 32 and had surgery.  

Dr. McCormack concluded that any further treatment or surgery was not related to the December, 2001 industrial injury.  Dr. McCormack concluded that the employee was medically stable, and suffered no permanent impairment from the 2001 industrial injury, attributing all impairment to the pre-existing back condition.  

The employee’s claims seeking a finding of a frivolous and unfair controversion, sick time claim, medical benefits (past and future), temporary partial disability, permanent impairment in excess of the seven percent already paid.  The employer controverted the specific spinal cord stimulator on February 24, 2004, additional PPI on March 9, 2004, and all benefits on February 17 and 18, 2005.  The employer argues that the employee at most suffered a temporary aggravation of a long-standing, pre-existing condition.  The employer asserts it controverted in good faith.  


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
"In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter.”  AS 23.30.120(a)(1).  The presumption also applies to claims that the work aggravated, accelerated or combined with a preexisting condition to produce a disability or need for medical treatment.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 315 (Alaska 1981).  Furthermore, in claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is needed to make the work connection.  Id., 316.  The presumption can also attach with a work-related aggravation / acceleration context without a specific event.  Providence Washington Ins. Co. v. Bonner, 680 P.2d 96 (Alaska 1984).  

Application of the presumption is a three-step process.  Gillispie v. B & B Foodland, 881 P.2d 1106, 1109 (Alaska 1994).  An employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the claimed conditions and his work.  For the purpose of determining whether the preliminary link between work and the claimed conditions has been attached, we do not assess the credibility of witnesses.  Resler v. Universal Services Inc., 778 P.2d 1146, 1148-49 (Alaska 1989);  Hoover v. Westbrook, AWCB Decision No.  97-0221 (November 3, 1997).  The claimed condition is then compensable if the work is a
 substantial factor in bringing it about.  Burgess, 317.  The work is a substantial factor if:  (1)  the condition would not have occurred at the time it did, in the way it did, or to the degree it did but for the work and (2) reasonable people regard the work as a cause of the condition and attach responsibility to it.  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).

The employer must then rebut the presumption by producing substantial evidence the conditions are not work-related.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  Substantial evidence is "such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion."  Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 n.1 (Alaska 1991).  The Grainger court also explained that there are two possible ways to overcome the presumption:  (1)  produce substantial evidence which provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude the work as the cause of the conditions; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the work was a factor in causing the condition.  The same standard used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link is also necessary to overcome it.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  An employer may rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting expert medical opinion evidence the work was probably not a cause of the claimed condition.  Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941, 942 (Alaska 1992).  Evidence used to rebut the presumption is examined by itself to determine whether it is sufficient to rebut the presumption.  Wolfer, at 869.  Medical testimony cannot constitute substantial evidence if it simply points to other possible causes of an employee's claimed condition without ruling out its work-relatedness.  Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass'n, 860 P.2d 1184, 1189 (Alaska 1993).

If the presumption is rebutted, the employee must then prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, his work was a substantial factor which brings about the condition or aggravates a preexisting ailment.  Wolfer, at 870.  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964). 

Applying the presumption analysis described above to the evidence in this claim, we find as follows:  We first consider whether the presumption attaches.  We find, based on the testimony of the employee, and the reports of Dr. Polston, that the employee’s condition is related to his December, 2001 falls, that he has attached the presumption that his claimed back condition is compensable.  

We next determine whether the presumption is rebutted.  We find, based on the reports and opinions of Drs. Dietrich, supported by the later SIME opinion of Dr. McCormack, that the employee only suffered a temporary aggravation of a preexisting condition in 2001.  We do so without weighing credibility, and accordingly find that the employer has rebutted the presumption the employee suffers from a condition which is disabling, as a result of the events of December 12, 2001.  Specifically, Dr. McCormack found that the employee’s complaints relate to his preexisting, arthritic, degenerative disc disease, and that the present complaints were simply a temporary flare.   

Because the employer has rebutted the presumption, we review the record as whole to determine whether the employee has proved his claim, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the December 12, 2001 incident is a cause of his alleged current disability and need treatment.  We find he has not. 

We give no weight to any of the employee’s testimony;  we find his credibility to be suspect;  we find his history given to providers was universally inconsistent, and self-motivated.  AS 23.30.122.  We disregard any causal connection attributed by Dr. Polston, linking the employee’s current disability or need for treatment to the 2001 incident, because the employee has misled his own physicians by not providing a full, complete history;  his own physicians relied on his subjective complaints which were not altogether forthright.  

We give most weight to the opinion of Dr. McCormack, which is based on objective findings, and a full complete record of the employee’s history.  Furthermore, we find Dr. McCormack’s report to be the only comprehensive examination of the employee and the complete medical record.  Based on Drs. Dietrich and McCormack, we find that the 2001 incidents did not cause anything more than a temporary aggravation of his preexisting, well documented, degenerative condition. Drs. Dietrich and McCormack both placed significance in the objective findings, noting that the employee’s problems are the result of a lengthy, well documented, degenerative process. 

Based on a preponderance of the medical evidence, in particular the overwhelming objective record, we conclude that the employee suffered a temporary aggravation of pre-existing condition on December 12, 2001.  Accordingly, we conclude that any aggravation to his condition would have resolved by February 17, 2005, the date the employer controverted all benefits.  We conclude the employer is not liable for the any medical care or timeloss benefits after February 17, 2005, and the employee’s claims are no longer compensable and they are not work-related.  As ample medical reports existed prior to any controversion, we find all controversions were in good faith, and thus not unfair or frivolous.  


ORDER
The employee, at most, suffered a temporary aggravation of a long-standing, preexisting degenerative condition, and the employer is not liable for any benefits after the February 17, 2005 controversion.  All controversion were filed in good faith.  

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on July 13, 2006.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.160 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and Order in the matter of ALPHONSO  HARRIS employee / applicant; v. SALVATION ARMY, OLDER ALASKANS PROGRAM, employer; FIDELITY & GUARANTY INS. CO., insurer / defendants; Case No. 200124953; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on July 13, 2006.






Joy Tuttle, Clerk

�








� Effective November 7, 2005, the work injury must be the substantial factor in bringing about the disability.  The employee’s December 12, 2001 date of injury pre-dates this amendment change.  
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